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JURY DEMAND 

6. Plaintiff demands a trial by jury in this action. 

PARTIES 

7. Plaintiff Shaquan Deleon (“Plaintiff” or “Mr. Deleon”), an African-

American male, is a resident of Bronx County in the City and State of New York. 

8. Defendant City of New York is a municipal corporation organized under 

the laws of the State of New York.  It operates the NYPD, a department or agency of 

defendant City of New York responsible for the appointment, training, supervision, 

promotion and discipline of police officers and supervisory police officers, including 

the individually named defendants herein.   

9. Defendant Police Officer Jeffrey Pfeiffer (“Pfeiffer”), Shield No. 10936, 

at all times relevant herein, was an officer, employee and agent of the NYPD.  

Defendant Pfeiffer is sued in his individual and official capacities.   

10. At all times relevant defendants John and Jane Doe 1 through 10 were 

police officers, detectives or supervisors employed by the NYPD.  Plaintiff does not 

know the real names and shield numbers of defendants John and Jane Doe 1 through 

10. 

11. At all times relevant herein, defendants John and Jane Doe 1 through 10 

were acting as agents, servants and employees of defendant City of New York and the 
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NYPD.  Defendants John and Jane Doe 1 through 10 are sued in their individual and 

official capacities. 

12. At all times relevant herein, all individual defendants were acting under 

color of state law.  

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

13. At approximately 10:55 p.m. on May 8, 2009, Plaintiff was lawfully 

present in the vicinity of 1360 Lyman Place in Bronx, New York.   

14. Plaintiff was standing on the sidewalk with a several friends when an 

unmarked police vehicle arrived at the scene. 

15. Four officers in plainclothes exited the vehicle and approached plaintiff 

and the other individuals. 

16. The officers had no reason to suspect that plaintiff or the other 

individuals were concealing contraband or otherwise engaged in criminal conduct of 

any kind. 

17. The officers then conducted an unlawful search of plaintiff and the other 

individuals.   

18. The officers recovered no contraband in the search. 

19. The officers then unlawfully searched an automobile parked nearby that 

belonged to one of the individuals. 

20. The vehicle’s owner approached the officers and asked them why they 
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were searching his car.   

21. The officers attacked the owner and began striking him with their batons 

and choking him. 

22. Plaintiff began recording the assault with his cellular phone’s video 

camera. 

23. One of the officers instructed plaintiff to step back. 

24. Plaintiff stepped back and continued recording. 

25. The officer then struck plaintiff with his baton and chased him down the 

block continuing to strike him.   

26. Plaintiff managed to escape and, fearful for his safety out on the street, 

headed to a friend’s nearby house for sanctuary. 

27. As plaintiff crossed the street, two unidentified police officers in 

plainclothes exited their vehicle and approached him. 

28. The officers immediately began assaulting plaintiff causing him to fall to 

the ground. 

29. While plaintiff was on the ground, several officers began stomping on 

him while saying “stop resisting.” 

30. Plaintiff was not resisting.  

31. At no time did plaintiff strike or assault any officer. 

32. The officers then forced plaintiff into their car and continued to assault 
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him, threatening to shoot him if he bled on them. 

33. Plaintiff was then taken to the 42nd Precinct and held overnight.   

34. While at the precinct, plaintiff, who was visibly injured, repeatedly 

requested and was denied medical treatment. 

35. At the precinct the officers falsely informed employees of the Bronx 

County District Attorney’s Office that they had observed plaintiff commit the 

offenses of Disorderly Conduct, Obstructing Governmental Administration and 

Resisting Arrest and prepared police paperwork and other documents to that effect. 

36. The officers had not observed plaintiff commit any of these offenses. 

37. The officers fabricated these statements and prepared these documents 

in an effort to cover-up their assault of plaintiff. 

38. Plaintiff was ultimately taken to Lincoln Hospital, where he was x-rayed 

and diagnosed with, inter alia, a fractured arm. 

39. Plaintiff was then taken back to the precinct and then to Bronx Central 

Booking. 

40. After over 30 hours in custody, plaintiff was arraigned and released.    

41. The criminal charges against plaintiff were subsequently adjourned in 

contemplation of dismissal. 

42. Plaintiff wore a sling on his arm for approximately one month following 

his assault. 
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43. Within ninety days after the claim alleged in this Complaint arose, a 

written notice of claim was served upon defendants at the Comptroller’s office at 1 

Centre Street, New York, New York. 

44. At least thirty days have elapsed since the service of the notice of claim, 

and adjustment or payment of the claim has been neglected or refused. 

45. This action has been commenced within one year and ninety days after 

the happening of the events upon which the claims are based. 

46. Plaintiff suffered damage as a result of defendants’ actions.  Plaintiff was 

deprived of his liberty, suffered emotional distress, mental anguish, fear, pain, bodily 

injury, anxiety, embarrassment, humiliation, and damage to his reputation.  

FIRST CLAIM 
42 U.S.C. § 1983 

47. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation as if fully set 

forth herein. 

48. Defendants, by their conduct toward plaintiff alleged herein, violated 

plaintiff’s rights guaranteed by 42 U.S.C. § 1983, the Fourth, Fifth and Fourteenth 

Amendments to the Constitution of the United States.   

49. As a direct and proximate result of this unlawful conduct, Plaintiff 

sustained the damages hereinbefore alleged. 
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SECOND CLAIM 
Unlawful Stop and Search 

50. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation as if fully set 

forth herein. 

51. Defendants violated the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments because 

they stopped and searched plaintiff without reasonable suspicion. 

52. As a direct and proximate result of this unlawful conduct, plaintiff 

sustained the damages hereinbefore alleged. 

THIRD CLAIM 
False Arrest 

53. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation as if fully set 

forth herein. 

54. Defendants violated the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments because 

they arrested plaintiff without probable cause. 

55.  As a direct and proximate result of this unlawful conduct, plaintiff 

sustained the damages hereinbefore alleged. 

FOURTH CLAIM 
State Law False Imprisonment and False Arrest 

56. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation as if fully set 

forth herein. 
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57. By their conduct, as described herein, the individual defendants are liable 

to plaintiff for falsely imprisoning and falsely arresting plaintiff. 

58. Plaintiff was conscious of his confinement. 

59. Plaintiff did not consent to his confinement. 

60. Plaintiff’s confinement was not otherwise privileged. 

61. Defendant City of New York, as an employer of the individual 

defendant officers, is responsible for their wrongdoing under the doctrine of respondeat 

superior.   

62. As a direct and proximate result of the misconduct and abuse of 

authority stated above, plaintiff sustained the damages alleged herein. 

FIFTH CLAIM 
Unreasonable Force 

63. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation as if fully set 

forth herein. 

64. The defendants violated the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments 

because they used unreasonable force on plaintiff. 

65. As a direct and proximate result of this unlawful conduct, plaintiff 

sustained the damages hereinbefore alleged. 
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SIXTH CLAIM 
State Law Assault and Battery 

66. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation as if fully set 

forth herein. 

67. By their conduct, as described herein, the defendants are liable to 

plaintiff for having assaulted and battered him. 

68. Defendant City of New York, as an employer of the individual 

defendant officers, is responsible for their wrongdoing under the doctrine of respondeat 

superior.   

69. As a direct and proximate result of the misconduct and abuse of 

authority stated above, plaintiff sustained the damages alleged herein. 

SEVENTH CLAIM 
Denial Of Constitutional Right To Fair Trial 

70. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation as if fully set 

forth herein. 

71. The individual defendants created false evidence against Plaintiff. 

72. The individual defendants forwarded false evidence to prosecutors in the 

Bronx County District Attorney’s office.  

73. In creating false evidence against Plaintiff, and in forwarding false 

information to prosecutors, the individual defendants violated plaintiff’s constitutional 
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right to a fair trial under the Due Process Clause of the Fifth and Fourteenth 

Amendments of the United States Constitution. 

74. As a direct and proximate result of this unlawful conduct, plaintiff 

sustained the damages hereinbefore alleged. 

EIGHTH CLAIM 
Malicious Abuse Of Process 

75. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation as if fully set 

forth herein. 

76. The individual defendants issued legal process to place plaintiff under 

arrest. 

77. The individual defendants arrested Plaintiff in order to obtain collateral 

objectives outside the legitimate ends of the legal process, to wit, to cover up their 

assault of him. 

78. The individual defendants acted with intent to do harm to plaintiff 

without excuse or justification. 

79. As a direct and proximate result of this unlawful conduct, plaintiff 

sustained the damages hereinbefore alleged. 
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NINTH CLAIM 
Negligent Hiring/Training/Retention Of  

Employment Services 

80. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation as if fully set 

forth herein. 

81. Defendant City, through the NYPD, owed a duty of care to plaintiff to 

prevent the conduct alleged, because under the same or similar circumstances a 

reasonable, prudent, and careful person should have anticipated that injury to plaintiff 

or to those in a like situation would probably result from the foregoing conduct. 

82. Upon information and belief, all of the individual defendants were unfit 

and incompetent for their positions. 

83. Upon information and belief, defendant City knew or should have 

known through the exercise of reasonable diligence that the individual defendants 

were potentially dangerous. 

84. Upon information and belief, defendant City’s negligence in screening, 

hiring, training, disciplining, and retaining these defendants proximately caused each 

of plaintiff’s injuries.  

85. As a direct and proximate result of this unlawful conduct, plaintiff 

sustained the damages hereinbefore alleged. 
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TENTH CLAIM 
Deliberate Indifference to Medical Needs 

86. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation as if fully set 

forth herein. 

87. The individual defendants were aware of plaintiff’s need for medical care 

and failed to act in deliberate indifference to plaintiff’s needs.  

88. Accordingly, defendants violated the Fourteenth Amendment by acting 

with deliberate indifference to his serious medical injuries.  

89. As a direct and proximate result of this unlawful conduct, Plaintiff 

sustained the damages hereinbefore alleged. 

ELEVENTH CLAIM 
Failure To Intervene 

90. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation as if fully set 

forth herein. 

91. Those defendants that were present but did not actively participate in the 

aforementioned unlawful conduct observed such conduct, had an opportunity prevent 

such conduct, had a duty to intervene and prevent such conduct and failed to 

intervene. 

92. Accordingly, the defendants who failed to intervene violated the Fourth, 

Fifth And Fourteenth Amendments. 
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93. As a direct and proximate result of this unlawful conduct, Plaintiff 

sustained the damages hereinbefore alleged. 

TWELFTH CLAIM 
Monel l  

94. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation as if fully set 

forth herein. 

95. This is not an isolated incident.  The City of New York (the “City”), 

through policies, practices and customs, directly caused the constitutional violations 

suffered by plaintiff. 

96. The City, through its police department, has had and still has hiring 

practices that it knows will lead to the hiring of police officers lacking the intellectual 

capacity and moral fortitude to discharge their duties in accordance with the 

constitution and is indifferent to the consequences.  

97. The City, through its police department, has a de facto quota policy that 

encourages unlawful stops, unlawful searches, false arrests, the fabrication of evidence 

and perjury.  

98. Federal judges have also recognized such a custom and practice of police 

officers.  According to the Honorable Jack B. Weinstein: 

Informal inquiry by the court and among the judges of this court, 
as well as knowledge of cases in other federal and state courts, has 
revealed anecdotal evidence of repeated, widespread falsification 
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by arresting police officers of the New York City Police 
Department.  Despite numerous inquiries by commissions and 
strong reported efforts by the present administration-through 
selection of candidates for the police force stressing academic and 
other qualifications, serious training to avoid constitutional 
violations, and strong disciplinary action within the department-
there is some evidence of an attitude among officers that is 
sufficiently widespread to constitute a custom or policy by the city 
approving illegal conduct of the kind now charged. 

Colon v. City of New York, 09 Civ 08, 09 Civ 09 (E.D.N.Y. Nov. 25, 2009).   

99. The City, at all relevant times, was aware that these individual defendants 

routinely commit constitutional violations such as those at issue here and has failed to 

change its policies, practices and customs to stop this behavior. 

100. The City, at all relevant times, was aware that these individual defendants 

are unfit officers who have previously committed the acts alleged herein and/or have 

a propensity for unconstitutional conduct. 

101. These policies, practices, and customs were the moving force behind 

plaintiff’s injuries. 
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